THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

DEC 02 2014

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Hon. G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-001465

Cephalon, Inc., ..... Appellant,

v.

Alan Wilson, ..... Respondent.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

William W. Wilkins  
Kirsten E. Small  
Burl F. Williams  
Nexsen Pruet, LLC  
Post Office Drawer 10648  
Greenville, South Carolina 29603  
PHONE: 864.370.2211  
FACSIMILE: 864.282.1177

*Counsel for Appellant Cephalon, Inc.*

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The monetary penalties scheme established in S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-110 is so punitive in purpose and effect that the Enforcement Action should be treated as a criminal proceeding. Accordingly, the use of private lawyers on a contingency fee basis is a *per se* violation of Cephalon's due process rights.
2. The Due Process Clause requires that the Attorney General, and any private lawyers acting on his behalf, exercise their discretion in quasi-criminal actions free of impermissible biases and extraneous influences.
  - a. The fee agreement violates the neutrality doctrine by creating an improper financial incentive for the Attorney General and his private lawyers to pursue monetary penalties regardless of the public's best interests.
  - b. Even if this were an ordinary damages action, payment of a contingency fee to private lawyers is permissible only if the litigation is controlled by a neutral and disinterested government attorney. The Attorney General's direct financial interest in the litigation means that this critical safeguard is wholly absent from the Enforcement Action.
3. The fee agreement between the Attorney General and his private lawyers violates the separation of powers doctrine by entitling the Attorney General to retain a portion of a settlement or judgment that should be remitted to the general fund.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cephalon is the defendant in a monetary penalties action brought by the Attorney General pursuant to the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. The Attorney General has retained several private lawyers, on a contingency fee basis, to litigate that case. This appeal arises from a declaratory judgment action filed by Appellant Cephalon, Inc. on October 30, 2012, seeking a ruling that the contingency fee agreement between the Attorney General and his private lawyers violates Cephalon's due process rights under State and Federal Constitutions. Cephalon further sought a ruling that the fee agreement, under which the Attorney General retains for himself funds that should be deposited into the general fund, violates the separation of powers doctrine of the South Carolina Constitution.

Following discovery, Cephalon and the Attorney General filed and fully briefed cross-motions for summary judgment. On April 21, 2014, the motions came before the circuit court, the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. for oral argument. On June 2, 2014, the circuit court entered an order granting the Attorney General's motion and denying Cephalon's motion. A timely notice of appeal was filed. Thereafter, the Attorney General filed an unopposed motion to certify the appeal to this Court under Rule 204(b), SCACR. On September 24, 2014 the motion was granted

## INTRODUCTION

“[C]ommon sense often makes good law.”<sup>1</sup>

As this Court noted nearly a century ago, “the Attorney General is the highest executive law officer of the state.” *State v. Sanders*, 118 S.C. 498, 110 S.E. 808, 810 (1920). As such, “[h]e is charged with the duty of seeing to the proper administration of the laws of the state, and his duties are quasi-judicial.” *Id.* (emphasis added). The Attorney General’s duty is to serve the public interest. See *Langford v. McLeod*, 269 S.C. 466, 473, 238 S.E.2d 161, 164 (1977). Accordingly, he must “act fairly and impartially in the discharge of his duties, and ... not lend his official sanction to an unwarranted action.” *Sanders*, 110 S.E. at 810.

Appellant Cephalon is the defendant in an action for monetary penalties filed by the Attorney General under the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (SCUTPA), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 39-5-10 *et seq.* (1976 & Supp. 2013). The monetary penalties sought in the action are wholly punitive; they serve no remedial purpose. The present appeal concerns Cephalon’s challenge to the contingency fee agreement between the Attorney General and his hand-picked private lawyers who are prosecuting the SCUTPA action on behalf of the Attorney General. Under the fee agreement, the private lawyers are to be paid a substantial portion of any monetary penalties imposed on Cephalon. Even worse, the fee agreement provides that the Attorney General is entitled to a ten percent cut of his private lawyers’ contingency fee. Through this arrangement, the fee agreement gives the Attorney General—the constitutional officer charged with “fairly and impartially” enforcing the laws of this state—a direct financial interest in seeking the highest possible monetary penalties against Cephalon. Common sense dictates that this arrangement violates Cephalon’s due process rights.

Even when accused of misconduct, companies that do business in South Carolina

---

<sup>1</sup> *Peak v. United States*, 353 U.S. 43, 46 (1957) (Douglas, J.).

have the same right as individual South Carolinians to expect the Attorney General to act in the interest of justice and not for pecuniary gain. The contingency fee agreement, under which both the Attorney General and his private lawyers have a direct financial interest in punitive monetary penalties, denies Cephalon its right to fair administration of South Carolina's laws. *Cf. Langford*, 269 S.C. at 471, 238 S.E.2d at 163 (noting that the Attorney General is prohibited from "receiv[ing] any fee or reward ... for services in any prosecution or business to which it is his official business to attend" (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)). Furthermore, the fee agreement violates the separation of powers doctrine of the South Carolina Constitution.

The record in this appeal is complete and provides the Court with everything needed to rule and finally determine this case and its controversy. This Court should reverse the circuit court's order granting summary judgment to the Attorney General, and should direct the entry of judgment in favor of Cephalon.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### A. The Enforcement Action

On June 6, 2011, the Attorney General filed an action against Cephalon (“the Enforcement Action”) pursuant to SCUTPA’s monetary penalties provision, *see* S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-110, alleging that Cephalon improperly engaged in off-label marketing of Provigil, Gabitril, and Actiq (“the Medicines”). The Enforcement Action ultimately stems from Cephalon’s plea, entered in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, to a single misdemeanor count of off-label marketing during a 10-month period in 2001. In the Enforcement Action, the Attorney General seeks the maximum \$5,000 monetary penalty for “[e]very deceptive, unfair, and/or misrepresentative act or practice by Cephalon in marketing and promoting” the Medicines for a period of *six years*, “from at least January 1, 2001 until at least December 31, 2006.” (Complaint ; R. p. \_\_.)<sup>2</sup> The Attorney General does not allege that the Medicines did not work in the manner intended by the doctors who prescribed the Medicines to their patients. Indeed, there is *no* allegation that even a single South Carolina citizen has been harmed in any way by taking these Medicines. The *only* allegation of wrongful conduct, rather, is that Cephalon marketed and/or promoted an off-label use for these Medicines.

The Enforcement Action alleges that Cephalon engaged in deceptive marketing practices by promoting the Medicines for “off-label” uses. However, use of a medication

---

<sup>2</sup> The Enforcement Action is plainly barred by SCUTPA’s three-year statute of limitations. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-150. Although the Attorney General filed the Enforcement Action within three years of Cephalon’s September 2008 guilty plea, his office has known about the allegations against Cephalon since at least 2005. (Gambrell Dep. 52:6-53:23, R. p. \_\_.) Moreover, in 2007 Assistant Deputy Attorney General C. Havird Jones, Jr. received e-mail correspondence specifically addressing the Connecticut Attorney General’s investigation of the activities now alleged in the Enforcement Action. (Jones Dep. 104:8-105:6; R. p. \_\_.) In March 2011, after the Attorney General contacted Cephalon in hopes of extracting a settlement before filing the Enforcement Action, Cephalon provided a detailed recitation of the many ways in which the Attorney General’s office obtained actual knowledge of the allegations against Cephalon well over three years prior to the filing of the Enforcement Action. (Letter, R.p. \_\_.)

for a purpose other than one for which the FDA specifically approved it—*i.e.*, an “off-label” use—is a normal and expected part of American medical practice. *See, e.g., Buckman Co. v. Plaintiffs’ Legal Comm.*, 531 U.S. 341, 350 & n.5 (2001) (noting that “‘off-label’ usage ... is an accepted and necessary corollary of the FDA’s mission to regulate in this area without directly interfering with the practice of medicine.”).<sup>3</sup>

FDA approval of a medicine represents the agency’s determination that the medicine is “safe and effective for each of its intended uses,” as identified by the manufacturer during the approval process. *See Wash. Legal Found. v. Henney*, 202 F.3d 331, 332 (D.C. Cir. 2000). “It will often be discovered after initial FDA approval, however, that a [medicine] has uses other than those for which it was approved.” *Id.* For example, one of the medicines involved in the Enforcement Action, Provigil, is approved for the treatment of “excessive sleepiness associated with narcolepsy, obstructive sleep apnea/hypopnea syndrome, and shift work sleep disorder.” (Complaint ¶ \_\_; R. p. \_\_.) However, doctors treating patients with multiple sclerosis routinely prescribe Provigil to alleviate the fatigue associated with the disease. This is an “off-label” use, and it is entirely legal and ethical for a doctor to prescribe Provigil in this way. “A physician may prescribe a legal drug to serve any purpose that he or she deems appropriate, regardless of whether the [medicine] has been approved for that use by the FDA.” *Wash. Legal*

---

<sup>3</sup> As the authors of an oft-cited article explain, “Off-label use is not only legal and ethical, but is a common and integral feature of medical practice”:

Off-label uses of medical devices and drugs perform an important therapeutic role in many, if not most, areas of medical practice. Prescriptions for off-label uses of drug products “may account for more than 25% of the approximately 1.6 billion prescriptions written each year, with some recent estimates running as high as 60%.” Examples of medical conditions whose standard treatments involve or have involved extensive off-label use include cancer, heart and circulatory disease, ... and various uncommon diseases. Pediatric uses also are mostly off-label.

James M. Beck & Elizabeth D. Azari, *FDA, Off-Label Use, and Informed Consent: Debunking Myths and Misconceptions*, 53 *FOOD & DRUG L.J.* 71, 79-80 (1998) (footnotes omitted) [hereinafter *Off-Label Use*].

*Found.*, 202 F.3d at 333. Indeed, it has been recognized that “[i]n some cases, if you didn’t use the drug in the off-label way, you’d be guilty of malpractice.” *Off-Label Use* at 80 (quoting a statement by the vice president of the American Medical Association). In short, doctors lawfully and properly prescribe medicines for off-label purposes in South Carolina every day, and their patients benefit from those prescriptions every day.<sup>4</sup>

While doctors, patients, and the general public are free to discuss the off-label uses of medications, federal law prohibits pharmaceutical manufacturers from joining the conversation. Under FDA regulations, a manufacturer’s promotion of its own medicine for an off-label purpose is deemed “misbranding,” a federal criminal offense. *United States v. Caronia*, 703 F.3d 149, 153-55 (2d Cir. 2012). So even though a doctor may prescribe a medicine for an off-label use, a pharmaceutical manufacturer cannot talk to a doctor about off-label uses.<sup>5</sup> Federal law prohibits pharmaceutical manufacturers from marketing or promoting a medicine for an off-label purpose no matter how beneficial that purpose may be, and no matter the degree to which the medical community has already adopted the off-label use. *Accord* Lise T. Spacapan and Jill M. Hutchison, *Prosecutions of Pharmaceutical Companies for Off-Label Marketing: Fueled by Government’s Desire to Modify Corporate Conduct or Pursuit of a Lucrative Revenue Stream?*, 22 ANNALS HEALTH L. 407, 421 (Summer 2013) (hereinafter “Spacapan”) (“Without off-label prescribing, key populations of patients may go without needed medicine.”).

---

<sup>4</sup> The General Assembly has stated a policy preference in favor of off-label prescriptions. So long as the medical profession has accepted an off-label use of a cancer-treatment drug, an insurance company in this State cannot refuse coverage on the basis that it is being prescribed for a purpose other than the FDA label allows. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-275(A) (2002).

<sup>5</sup> Since Cephalon entered its misdemeanor plea in 2008, at least one federal appellate court has held that the First Amendment prohibits criminal prosecution “for speech promoting the lawful, off-label use of an FDA-approved drug.” *Caronia*, 703 F.3d at 161 (holding that the First Amendment prohibits criminal prosecution “for speech promoting the lawful, off-label use of an FDA-approved drug”); *see Sorrell v. IMS Health Inc.*, 131 S. Ct. 2653, 2659 (2011) (“Speech in aid of pharmaceutical marketing ... is a form of expression protected by the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment.”).

**B. The Attorney General’s Retention of Private Lawyers to Prosecute the Enforcement Action**

Shortly after filing the Enforcement Action, the Attorney General selected several private practice lawyers to prosecute the Enforcement Action on his behalf, in exchange for a contingency fee based in part on the amount of monetary penalties imposed by the court.<sup>6</sup> Before accepting the engagement, the private lawyers inquired about the potential damages award, presumably for the purpose of assessing whether the potential contingency fee justified the effort and expense of conducting the litigation. The Attorney General’s office replied,

[We] will get you a figure on the disgorgement amount ... *the civil penalties would be the big #.*

(E-mail, R. p. \_\_ (emphasis added).) As evidence of the “big #” to be obtained in penalties, the Attorney General’s office forwarded a copy of the trial court’s order in a previous monetary penalties action against Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharmaceuticals, imposing a penalty of \$327 million. *See State ex rel. Wilson v. Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharms., Inc.*, 2011 WL 2185861 (Com. Pl. June 3, 2011) (hereinafter “*Janssen*”).

The fee agreement between the Attorney General and his private lawyers provides for compensation on a contingency basis. In the event of a settlement or judgment, the private lawyers are entitled to reimbursement of expenses on a dollar-for-dollar basis. Once actual expenses have been reimbursed, a contingency fee will be calculated based on a cumulative sliding scale:

Amount of Net Proceeds	Contingent Percentage	Private Lawyers’ Fee	Attorney General’s Share
\$0 to \$5 million	25%	\$1,250,000	\$125,000
\$5 to \$10 million	22%	\$1,100,000	\$110,000

---

<sup>6</sup> The Attorney General “did not employ a competitive bidding process or issue any requests for proposal to identify or retain” the private lawyers. (Interrog. Resp. No. 11; R. p. \_\_.)

Amount of Net Proceeds	Contingent Percentage	Private Lawyers' Fee	Attorney General's Share
\$10 to \$25 million	18%	\$2,700,000	\$270,000
\$25 to \$50 million	15%	\$3,750,000	\$375,000
\$50 to \$100 million	12%	\$6,000,000	\$600,000
Over \$100 million	10%	<i>Unlimited</i> <sup>7</sup>	<i>Unlimited</i>

(Fee Agreement at 6; R. p. \_\_.) The fee agreement provides that the contingency fee will be calculated on the basis of "net settlement or judgment proceeds *including civil penalties*, restitution, or damages (but not including punitive or exemplary damages)."

(Fee Agreement at 6, R. p. \_\_.) A separate cumulative sliding scale, with a maximum of 20 percent, applies to punitive and exemplary damages. (Fee Agreement at 7, R. p. \_\_.)

Under the fee agreement, the Attorney General obtains ten percent of his private lawyers' contingency fee. (Fee Agreement at 6, 7, R. pp. \_\_ \_\_.) Thus, the fee agreement gives the Attorney General the same financial interest as his private lawyers in the imposition of substantial monetary penalties. *Cf.* S.C. Code Ann. § 17-1-20 ("No prosecuting officer shall receive any fee or reward from or in behalf of a prosecutor for services in any prosecution or business to which it is his official business to attend ...")

Although many state attorneys general retain private lawyers on a contingency-fee basis in certain kinds of cases, it appears that the South Carolina Attorney General stands alone in giving himself a ten percent cut of his private lawyers' contingency fees. During the summary judgment hearing, Cephalon asserted that *no* other attorney general in America engages in this type of scheme. The Attorney General never challenged that assertion. Indeed, the Attorney General testified during his deposition that he is "not aware" of any other attorney general from any state who gets a cut of the

---

<sup>7</sup> Using the *Janssen* monetary penalties judgment of \$327 million as an example, and assuming expenses of \$1 million, the percentages set forth in the above table would result in a fee of \$37.4 million to the private lawyers. The Attorney General would deposit ten percent of that amount (\$3.74 million) into this "civil litigation account."

contingency fees paid to his private lawyers. (Wilson Dep. 49:23-50:9; R. p. \_\_.) This in itself speaks volumes about the inappropriateness of the arrangement designed and implemented by the Attorney General.

The Attorney General has been taking a rake from its enforcement cases for some time now. Despite a statute that requires the Attorney General to deposit “all monies, except investigative costs or costs of litigation”—categories that do not include attorneys’ fees—“in[to] the general fund of the State,” the Attorney General deposits his contingency fee in his own “civil litigation account.” (Production Response No. 13, pp.5-6; Osmer<sup>8</sup> Dep. 115:16-21.) Since 2002, \$36.5 million has been deposited into this account rather than into the general fund. (Jones Dep. 228:22-230:25.) These funds have been used to pay salaries and fringe benefits, such as retirement and healthcare, for the Attorney General’s employees. (Osmer Dep. 123:11-125:16.) The funds are also used for a number of other unclear purposes, such as “other profess [sic] services” (R. p. \_ \$157,402.76 [FY 2011]; \$158,234.14 [FY 2012]; \$43,359.55 [FY 2013]), and “dues & membership fees.” (R. p. \_ \$58,808.71 [FY 2013].)

The ten percent rake appears to be motivated by the Attorney General’s desire to increase available funding over the amount allocated to his office by the General Assembly. A January 30, 2011 *Post & Courier* article reported that newly elected Attorney General Alan Wilson “said the attorney general’s office has the potential to raise significant revenue through some investigations and lawsuits.” (Article, R. p. \_\_.) Under South Carolina law only the Attorney General can file a SCUTPA penalty case. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-110(a). In an effort to increase revenue, the Attorney General has unconstitutionally leased out the statutory powers of his office to a group of private lawyers who agree to front all costs of litigation. The lease terms, of course, provide that the Attorney General gets a piece of the pie—that is, his ten percent rake.

---

<sup>8</sup> Thomas M. Osmer, Jr. is the Attorney General’s Finance Director.

The opening paragraph of the Amended Complaint, filed by the Attorney General's private lawyers in February 2012, states that this is a "civil action for civil penalties ... and other legal and equitable relief for violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act." (Complaint ¶ 1, R. p. 1.) The lead claim for monetary penalties is no coincidence. That is primarily what this case is about; "*the civil penalties [are] the big #.*" (E-mail; R. p. 1 (emphasis added).) Under S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-110, a monetary penalty of up to \$5,000 could be imposed against Cephalon for every occasion in which its employees promoted an off-label use for its Medicines. In the *Janssen* case, for example, the circuit court imposed a separate monetary penalty for each and every sample packet, as well as a separate monetary penalty for each and every distribution of a certain letter and each and every marketing visit to a doctor's office. *See Janssen*, 2011 WL 2185861. In addition to monetary penalties, in this case the Attorney General also seeks a permanent injunction that would preclude Cephalon from engaging in speech that has recently been held to be constitutionally protected.

### **C. The Declaratory Judgment Action**

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