**RECEIVED**

APR 14 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001465

Cephalon, Inc., .....Appellant,

v.

Alan Wilson, in his official capacity as  
Attorney General for the State of South Carolina, .....Respondent.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Alan Wilson, SC Bar #71754  
ATTORNEY GENERAL  
John W. McIntosh, SC Bar #3841  
CHIEF DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL  
Robert D. Cook, SC Bar #1373  
SOLICITOR GENERAL  
C. Havird Jones, Jr., SC Bar #3178  
SENIOR ASSISTANT DEPUTY ATTORNEY  
GENERAL  
Jared Q. Libet, SC Bar #74975

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

## ARGUMENT

In this appeal, Cephalon asks this Court to do what no other court to consider the issues has done—hold that due process prevents a state Attorney General from hiring outside counsel on a contingency fee basis in a civil case seeking damages and civil penalties.

The circuit court correctly rejected the arguments Cephalon advances here. This Court should affirm the circuit court’s order granting summary judgment to the Attorney General and, as well-stated by the Texas Court of Appeals in rejecting similar arguments, “decline Defendants’ invitation to become the first court to hold that the due process clause establishes a blanket prohibition against a governmental entity’s engagement of private counsel on a contingent-fee basis to pursue civil litigation in which the only remedy sought is civil penalties.” *Int’l Paper Co. v. Harris County*, 445 S.W.3d 379, at 394 (Tex. App. July 25, 2013).<sup>3</sup>

### **I. The Attorney General’s Legal Authority to Hire Special Counsel on a Contingency Fee Basis**

The Attorney General has broad authority under South Carolina’s Constitution, statutes, and common law. *See Condon v. State*, 354 S.C. 634, 641, 583 S.E.2d 430, 434 (2003). The common law and the laws of this state provide for a “wide scope of the authority and duties of the Attorney General as the legal representative of the state and of its several administrative departments.” *Cooley v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*, 204 S.C. 10, 28 S.E.2d 445, 451 (1943). “As the chief law officer of the State, [the Attorney General]

---

<sup>3</sup> Cephalon continually refers in its brief to the Attorney General’s enforcement case as an action for civil penalties. While it is true that the Attorney General does seek civil penalties for Cephalon’s willful violations of SCUTPA, the complaint also seeks equitable relief in the form of an injunction to prevent future violations of SCUTPA, restitution, and disgorgement, and the amended complaint adds a claim for damages to the State Health Plan for expenditures on the three drugs at issue. This is notably absent from Cephalon’s brief.

may, in the absence of some express legislative restriction to the contrary, exercise all such power and authority as public interests may from time to time require, and may institute, conduct and maintain all such suits and proceedings as he deems necessary for the enforcement of the laws of the State, the preservation of order, and the protection of public rights.” *State ex rel. Condon v. Hodges*, 349 S.C. 232, 239, 562 S.E.2d 623, 627 (2002) (quoting *State ex rel. Daniel v. Broad River Power Co.*, 157 S.C. 1, 68, 153 S.E. 537, 560 (1929), *aff’d* 282 U.S. 187 (1930)).

By statute, the Attorney General is also responsible for the hiring of outside attorneys, both by the Attorney General’s Office and any other state agency, and for approving their compensation. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 1-7-160; 1-7-170. Importantly, the General Assembly did not prohibit contingency fee arrangements; indeed, the language of the statute broadly provides the Attorney General’s approval of any attorney hired on a “fee basis.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-7-170; *see also Cooley v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*, 204 S.C. 10, 28 S.E.2d 445 (1943) (recognizing that the Attorney General, as the State’s chief legal officer, possesses the authority to appoint and approve private counsel to represent the State).

While the South Carolina appellate courts have not directly considered the Attorney General’s right to appoint special counsel on a contingency fee basis, this issue was addressed by the Honorable Roger L. Couch in *State ex rel. McMaster v. Eli Lilly & Co.*, No. 2007-CP-42-01855 (Sep. 22, 2009), who found that the Attorney General had the authority to retain outside counsel on a contingency fee basis to represent the State in litigation against a pharmaceutical company for violations of SCUTPA. (R. pp. 50-54).

In addition, the appellate courts of other states have expressly approved of such an arrangement. In *West Virginia ex rel. Discover Fin. Servs., Inc. v. Nibert*, 744 S.E.2d 625, 651 (W.Va. 2013), the Supreme Court of West Virginia held that “the Attorney General has common law authority to provide for compensation to be paid to special assistant attorneys general through a court-approved award of attorney’s fees taken directly from the losing opponent in the litigation.” Similarly, the Supreme Court of Rhode Island held that,

[T]here is nothing unconstitutional or illegal or inappropriate in a contractual relationship whereby the Attorney General hires outside attorneys on a contingent fee basis to assist in the litigation of certain non-criminal matters. Indeed, it is our view that the ability of the Attorney General to enter into such relationships may well, in some circumstances, lead to results that will be beneficial to society—results which otherwise might not have been attainable.

*Rhode Island v. Lead Indus. Ass’n, Inc.*, 951 A.2d 428, 475 (R.I. 2008) (internal citations and footnotes omitted). The Supreme Court of Missouri reached the same conclusion, reasoning:

The statute that allows for the attorney general to hire assistants and to pay them from appropriations does not prohibit the attorney general in the exercise of his common law power from entering into contingency fee arrangements or agreements that otherwise provide for civil defendants sued by the State to pay attorney fees directly to the State’s outside counsel. In the absence of a statute to the contrary, we conclude that the attorney general does have the power to enter into this type of fee arrangement with his special assistant attorneys general.

*Missouri ex rel. Nixon v. Am. Tobacco Co., Inc.*, 34 S.W.3d 122, 136 (Mo. 2000). As these decisions recognize, retention of outside counsel to assist the Attorney General with civil litigation for a contingency fee is a common and accepted practice. The circuit court correctly found “the Attorney General possesses the authority to associate outside attorneys to assist with enforcement actions brought against individuals and companies

for violations of SCUTPA and to pay those outside attorneys on a contingency fee basis with money received in any settlement or judgment obtained in the case.” (R. p. 10).

**II. Neither the Litigation Retention Agreement Nor The Underlying Action Violate Cephalon’s Right to Due Process**

**a. The Litigation Retention Agreement Does Not Create the Attorney General’s Right to Seek Attorneys’ Fees and Reimbursement for Costs**

Cephalon’s arguments stem from the flawed premise that the Litigation Retention Agreement creates the Attorney General’s right to seek attorney fees and costs. To the contrary, that right is not created by contract, but by South Carolina law. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-7-85 provides, in pertinent part:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the Office of the Attorney General may obtain reimbursement for its costs in representing the State in criminal proceedings and in representing the State and its officers and agencies in civil and administrative proceedings. These costs may include, but are not limited to, attorney fees or investigative costs or costs of litigation awarded by court order or settlement[.]

This statute specifically provides that the Attorney General may obtain attorneys’ fees and costs for representing the State in civil proceedings. The statute does not, as Cephalon contends, limit the ways in which the attorneys’ fees for the Attorney General could be calculated.

Accordingly, the terms of the Litigation Retention Agreement do not create the Attorney General’s ability to seek attorneys’ fees. Rather, the fee calculation agreed to by the Attorney General and outside counsel operates as a ceiling to the fees the Attorney General can ultimately seek without violating a contract. In the absence of this language, the Attorney General would have the unfettered right under § 1-7-85 to seek attorneys’ fees in the event the enforcement action against Cephalon is settled or a judgment is

entered in favor of the State. Similarly, if the Attorney General had continued this action without outside counsel, he would still have the statutory authority to seek attorneys' fees calculated in the same manner as set forth in the Litigation Retention Agreement.<sup>4</sup>

The Litigation Retention Agreement simply puts the Attorney General's intention to seek those funds in writing, serves to notify outside counsel of the manner in which the Attorney General will calculate the attorneys' fees he will ultimately seek the court approve, and provides notice that any fees for the Office approved by the court will be paid from outside counsel's contingent fee rather than the State's recovery. Furthermore, the Litigation Retention Agreement provides the "distribution and compensation calculation shall be included in a final order in the case." Before any attorneys' fees or costs are disbursed to Special Counsel or retained by the Attorney General's Office, a motion to the court for their approval will be made pursuant to this provision. Any objections Cephalon, or any other party, may have to the amount of fees or costs sought by Special Counsel or the Attorney General may be raised at that time. As the circuit court, correctly observed, "Cephalon retains the opportunity to challenge the fees awarded to the Attorney General if it believes that this fee is unconstitutionally excessive." (R. p. 18); *accord S.C. Dept. of Transp. v. Revels*, \_\_ S.C. \_\_, 766 S.E.2d 700, 2014 WL 6967590, at \*5 (Dec. 10, 2014) (recognizing the use of a contingency fee agreement "is a legitimate and well-established practice for attorneys throughout our state," but that the terms of the agreement are not controlling when it comes to an award

---

<sup>4</sup> Cephalon argues the affidavit of Geoffrey Hazard, a professor of legal ethics. It is noteworthy that at deposition Professor Hazard could not recall reviewing either S.C. Code § 1-7-85 or S.C. Code § 1-7-150. (R. p. 493) He further testified that his opinions were *not* influenced by these statutes. (R. pp. 493-494) More significantly, he testified that, if state law allows the Attorney General to seek recovery of attorneys' fees, that is *not* something he would take issue with. (R. p. 497)

of attorneys' fees). Whether the fees and costs sought are ultimately awarded will be a decision made by a neutral court.

**b. Cephalon's Right to Due Process Is Not Violated by the Attorney General's Retention of a Portion of Outside Counsel's Attorneys' Fees**

Cephalon urges that its constitutional rights are violated because the Attorney General retains a portion of any attorneys' fees awarded to outside counsel on a contingency fee basis. As noted above, under the Litigation Retention Agreement, the Attorney General may retain up to 2.5% of any recovery as attorneys' fees, subject to approval by the court and legislative appropriation. Because of this "financial incentive," as Cephalon terms it, the Attorney General cannot satisfy the heightened level of neutrality which Cephalon believes is required. The trial court correctly ruled that, while the enforcement action is a civil proceeding, even if the case is treated as quasi-criminal in nature, "the Attorney General's contingency fee interest does not rise to the level of a due process violation." (R. p. 16)

The Attorney General is "entitled to a presumption that he is pursuing the [enforcement] action in a manner consistent with his duty to seek justice as well as his ethical and professional obligations to the [State]." *Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Conway*, 947 F.Supp.2d 733, 744 (E.D. Ky. 2013); *see also County of Santa Clara v. Superior Court*, 235 P.3d 21, 38 (Cal. 2010) ("In light of the supervisory role played by government counsel in this litigation—and their inherent duty to serve the public's interest in any type of prosecution pursued on behalf of the public—we presume that government attorneys will honor their obligation to place the interests of their client above the personal, pecuniary interests of the subordinate private counsel they have hired.").

**i. The Supreme Court's decision in *Marshall v. Jerrico* supports the Attorney General's position**

Contrary to Cephalon's view, the Supreme Court decision in *Marshall v. Jerrico*, 446 U.S. 238 (1980), supports the Attorney General's position. In *Marshall*, after the Employment Standards Administration (ESA) uncovered violations of child labor provisions at Jerrico's restaurants, "the ESA Assistant Regional Administrator in the Atlanta office assessed a total fine of \$103,000 in civil penalties for the various violations." 446 U.S. at 240. Under federal law, the ESA retained these civil penalties as "reimbursement for the costs of determining violations and assessing penalties." *Id.* at 239. The penalty was reduced by an administrative law judge following a hearing, but rather than seek further judicial review, Jerrico filed a suit of its own, "challenging the civil penalty provisions of the Act on constitutional grounds and seeking declaratory and injunctive relief against their continued enforcement." *Id.* at 241. According to Jerrico, the ability of the ESA to both assess and keep civil penalties "created an impermissible risk and appearance of bias by encouraging the assistant regional administrator to make unduly numerous and large assessments of civil penalties." *Id.*

The District Court agreed with Jerrico. "According to the [district] court, an assistant regional administrator would therefore be inclined to maximize the total expenditures on enforcement of the child labor provisions of the Act, and those increased expenditures would result in an increase in the number and amount of penalties assessed." *Id.* at 247. In support of this conclusion, the District Court relied on *Tumey v. Ohio*, 273 U.S. 510 (1927), where the Supreme Court held that the Ohio statutory scheme that allowed town mayors to sit as judges in prosecutions of certain offenses violated due

process because the mayors were paid a portion of any fines collected upon conviction.<sup>5</sup> The District Court also relied on *Ward v. Village of Monroeville*, 409 U.S. 57 (1972), which invalidated a “mayor’s court” that provided vital income to the village by imposing fines, forfeitures, costs, and fees.

The Supreme Court disagreed and reversed. “The assistant regional administrator simply cannot be equated with the kind of decisionmakers to which the principles of *Tumey* and *Ward* have been held applicable. *He is not a judge. He performs no judicial or quasi-judicial functions.* He hears no witnesses and rules on no disputed factual or legal questions. The function of assessing a violation is akin to that of a *prosecutor or civil plaintiff.*” *Marshall*, 446 U.S. at 247 (emphasis added). “The rigid requirements of *Tumey* and *Ward*, designed for officials performing judicial or quasi-judicial functions, are *not applicable* to those acting in a prosecutorial or plaintiff-like capacity.” *Id.* at 248 (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court addressed the question of the required neutrality of a prosecutor, holding that “[p]rosecutors need not be entirely ‘neutral and detached.’” *Id.* (citing *Ward*, 409 U.S. at 62); *see also Int’l Paper*, 445 S.W.3d at 395 n.13 (“Even in the criminal justice system, prosecutors are not *entirely* neutral and detached.”) (emphasis in original). “In an adversary system, they are necessarily permitted to be zealous in their enforcement of the law.” *Marshall*, 446 U.S. at 248; *see also Int’l Paper*, 445 S.W.3d at 394-5. (“Once a decision to prosecute has been made, lawyers who represent a governmental entity in litigation may act as advocates, not simply as adjudicators of whether to continue the prosecution. And, as advocates in an adversarial system,

---

<sup>5</sup> Importantly though, even the court in *Tumey* recognized “that the Legislature of a state may and often ought to stimulate prosecutions for crime by offering to those who shall initiate and carry on such prosecutions rewards for thus acting in the interest of the state and the people.” 273 U.S. at 535.

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